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THE CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I am 
pleased to present the Annual Report of operations and the 
audited financial statements for the Melbourne and Olympic 
Parks Trust (the Trust) for the year ending 30 June 2017. 

For the 2016/2017 financial year, the Trust is reporting a 
net loss of $19.99 million. This is a result of:

• a $12.7 million write-off of assets as a result of the 
demolition of the ageing indoor courts complex to make 
way for the expansion of Rod Laver Arena;

• the closure of Rod Laver Arena for a period of 
accelerated construction activity and a cyclical 
downturn in the highly profitable international concert 
touring market;

• an increase in financial allocations for the development 
of sport; and

• an increase in depreciation due to expansion of the 
Melbourne & Olympic Parks (M&OP) asset base.

As highlighted in previous reports, as investment in the 
renewal of the Australian Open facilities continues and 
financial support for the development of sport grows, 
M&OP may report net losses after depreciation. The Trust 
continues to pursue operating efficiencies and growth 
to ensure it remains financially sustainable in the long 
term and is in a position to maintain an adequate level of 
reserves to deal with business fluctuations.

In April, the Victorian Government announced a further 
$271.5 million funding for the third stage of the Melbourne 
Park Redevelopment. These works will include a new 5000-
seat outdoor arena and show court, a new central terrace 
with an elevated outdoor public space that will be able to 
link to any future development across the railway lines and 
a modern function and media centre. 

During the 2016/2017 year, three significant construction 
milestones were reached as part of the current Stage 2 
works of the Melbourne Park Redevelopment. These were:

• completion of the new headquarters for Melbourne 
& Olympic Parks and Tennis Australia: Tennis HQ in 
September 2016; 

• opening of the Tanderrum Bridge in December 2016; and

• commencement of the Rod Laver Arena redevelopment 
works in February 2017 - extensive planning has 
gone into ensuring the impact of construction on the 
Australian Open and the rest of the Trust’s business is 
minimised. 

In addition to the Melbourne Park Redevelopment program, 
the Trust invests in extensive refurbishment, replacement 
and improvement programs to maintain its facilities to a 
world class standard. During the 2016/2017 year, further 
capital expenditure of $16.4 million was undertaken. 

Operationally, this was a difficult year. A downturn in the 
concert touring market and Rod Laver Arena’s closure for 
redevelopment works resulted in a significant reduction 

in the number of shows and patronage at this important 
contributor to M&OP’s financial health. 

However, both Hisense Arena and Margaret Court Arena still 
recorded strong growth, albeit with lower earning and smaller 
events. At the same time, AAMI Park continued to perform well 
with a strong sporting and entertainment events calendar. 
Another record-breaking attendance at the Australian Open 
saw more than 728,763 patrons attend the event over the two 
week period and the opening of the new Tanderrum Bridge 
enabled the event to expand into Birrarung Marr. 

Engagement with the community and support for sports 
development continues to be one of the Trust’s core 
organisational pillars. This is provided through a number of 
avenues:

• Annual contribution of $6 million to government 
sporting programs and activities.

• Providing affordable access to M&OP venues and 
preferential access to sporting venues for sports and 
community organisations.

• Supporting M&OP’s tenants and sporting clubs in their 
community activities by providing access to M&OP 
facilities.

• Directly developing, funding and supporting 
community events that are designed to support 
charities and local causes, as well as promote active 
participation towards community wellbeing. Nine 
events were staged and supported by the Trust during 
the year.

I would like to acknowledge the work of the M&OP team 
for successfully delivering an increased number and 
range of events in a precinct that is undergoing such 
significant change, and the Development Victoria team 
for successfully managing the complex interface with the 
construction activities.

I would also like to extend our appreciation to the Premier 
of Victoria, the Honourable Daniel Andrews, and the Minister 
for Tourism, Sport and Major Events, the Honourable 
John Eren, for their continued support for the Melbourne 
& Olympic Parks precinct. The support of the Victorian 
Government and our many users and stakeholders ensures 
Melbourne & Olympic Parks remains a preeminent sports 
and entertainment precinct, community asset and a 
significant contributor to the Victorian economy.

Finally, I’d like to acknowledge my fellow Trustees for their 
contribution and support throughout another productive year. 
In particular, I’d like to pay tribute to retiring Trustees David 
Stobart, Mikaela Stafrace, Ray Smith and Steve Healy for their 
important contributions during their service to the Trust. 

Russell Caplan
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GOVERNANCE

Establishment

The Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust (MOPT) 
was established on 5 October 1995 pursuant to the 
provisions of the Melbourne and Olympic Parks Act 
1985 (as amended). It was created by the merger of 
the National Tennis Centre Trust (established 13 Nov 
1985) and the Olympic Park Committee of Management 
(formed originally in 1909). The Act is jointly 
administered by the Premier of Victoria, the Honourable 
Daniel Andrews, and the Minister for Sport, Tourism and 
Major Events, the Honourable John Eren.

The Melbourne and Olympic Parks Act 1985

The Purpose of the Act
The purposes of the Act as outlined in Section 3 are: 

• To create a Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust to 
administer the National Tennis Centre, Olympic Park 
and certain other land and facilities for the purposes of 
tennis, other sports, recreation and entertainment.

• To provide for the management and operation of the 
National Tennis Centre and Olympic Park.

• To provide for the use and promotion of the National 
Tennis Centre and Olympic Park.

• To provide for the development, promotion, 
management, operation and use of sports, recreation 
and entertainment facilities and services in Victoria 
in addition to those at the National Tennis Centre and 
Olympic Park

Under the Act the Trust has the following primary functions:

• To accept appointment and act as a committee of 
management of Crown lands.

• To be responsible for the care, improvement, use and 
promotion of the National Tennis Centre and Olympic 
Park as facilities for tennis, other sports, recreation and 
entertainment. 

• To operate the National Tennis Centre and Olympic Park 
efficiently and effectively to obtain the best possible 
use of the facilities. 

• To provide planning for the operation of the National 
Tennis Centre and Olympic Park, which is coordinated 
between the two facilities.

• To be responsible for proper financial management of 
the National Tennis Centre and Olympic Park.

• To provide for the planning, development, promotion, 
management, operation and use of other sports, 
recreation and entertainment facilities and services in 
Victoria. 

• To provide for the development, promotion, 
management, operation and use of facilities and 
services for the parking of vehicles and other 
necessary services to be used in conjunction with any 
of the facilities operated or managed by the Trust.

• To provide for the management of Gosch’s Paddock by 
the Trust as a committee of management under the 
Crown Lands (Reserves) Act 1978.

Melbourne & Olympic Parks’ Formula for 
Success

Our Purpose 
To administer, develop and promote the use of Melbourne 
& Olympic Park lands for the purposes of tennis, sport, 
entertainment and recreation. 

Our Vision  
A thriving precinct – committed to excellence, every event, 
every person, every time. 

Goals
1. Maintain our financial sustainability.

2. Increase benefits to the State of Victoria.

3. Drive commercial outcomes by improving customer value.

4. Continue to transform our business. 

5. Create a climate for high performance. 

Our Values   
The team at Melbourne & Olympic Parks is committed to the 
following values, which are underpinned by a commitment 
to ensuring the customer is always at the heart of the 
organisation’s decision making.

• Collaboration 

• Integrity 

• Passion

• Open Mindedness. 
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GOVERNANCE

Trustees
Mr Russell Caplan (Chairman)

Ms Jacinda Dixon 

Mr Gary Clark (from 9 April 2017)

Mr Will Fowles 

Mr Patrick Flannigan (from 13 December 2016)

Ms Catherine Friday (from 13 December 2016)

Mr Steve Healy (to 27 June 2017)

Ms Jayne Hrdlicka (from 13 December 2016)

Ms Diana Nicholson

Mr John Ribot-de-Bresac 

Mr Kenneth Roche AO

Ms Liberty Sanger (from 27 June 2017)

Mr Raymond Smith (to 19 November 2016)

Ms Mikaela Stafrace (to 21 July 2016)

Mr David Stobart (to 8 April 2017)

Accountable Executives
Mr Brian Morris – Chief Executive Officer

Mr Travis Mardling – Chief Financial Officer

Mr Andrew Travis – Chief Operating Officer

Statement of Corporate Governance
Procedures have been established at the Trust and 
executive management level, which are designed to 
safeguard the assets and interests of the Trust and to 
ensure integrity of reporting. The Trust acknowledges 
the need for and continued maintenance of the highest 
standards of corporate governance practice and ethical 
conduct by all Trustees and employees of the Trust.

Appointments and Remuneration Committee
The Appointments and Remuneration Committee was 
established to review and make recommendations to the 
Trust with regard to the policy requirements of the Victorian 
Government and assist it in fulfilling the Trust’s obligations for 
good corporate governance in relation to the following areas:

• Senior executive remuneration, performance and 
succession planning.

• Board operation and development. 

The members of the Committee during the year ended 30 June 
2017 were:

Mr Russell Caplan  
Ms Catherine Friday (from 13 December 2016) 

Ms Diana Nicholson 
Mr Kenneth Roche AO  
Mr Raymond Smith (to 19 November 2016)

Finance Audit and Risk Committee
The Trust has established a Finance Audit and Risk Committee 
to lead an oversight role in financial governance and financial 
reporting matters. It is actively involved in:

• Monitoring financial management compliance issues, 
particularly in the identification of risk areas and the 
monitoring of associated rectification plans. 

• Reviewing the integrity of reporting and internal control 
structures.

• Overseeing the financial performance of the entity.

• Monitoring and reporting on all aspects of risk. 

The Committee meets monthly or more often as required and 
makes recommendations to the Trust on specific issues.

The Members of the Committee during the year ended 30 
June 2017 were:

Mr Raymond Smith (Chair to 19 November 2016) 
Ms Catherine Friday (Chair from 13 December 2016) 
Ms Jacinda Dixon  
Ms Diana Nicholson  
Mr Kenneth Roche AO 
Ms Mikaela Stafrace (to 21 July 2016)

All Finance, Audit and Risk Committee members are 
independent from management.

Strategic Planning Committee
The Trust’s Strategic Planning Committee is established to 
provide independent and expert advice to assist the Trust 
to discharge its strategic planning responsibilities. The 
purpose of the committee is to:

• Monitor and inform the Trust of developments and 
trends that may influence the Trust’s ability to 
effectively achieve its goals.

• Oversee the development of the strategic plan. 

• Monitor implementation of the strategic plan. 

• Review and recommend to the Trust for approval of long-
term business objectives and plan developed by the 
management team. 

The Members of the Committee during the year ended 30 
June 2017 were:

Mr Russell Caplan 
Mr Patrick Flannigan (from 13 December 2016) 
Mr John Ribot-de-Bresac  
Mr Raymond Smith (to 19 November 2016) 
Ms Mikaela Stafrace (to 21 July 2016)
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS

Overall Performance
Total income was $94.452 million, down $2.691 million 
on the prior year (2016: $97.143 million).  This decrease 
is predominately due to a reduction in the international 
concert touring market and the unavailability of Rod Laver 
Arena during site redevelopment. 

Total operating expenditure was $101.654 million, up 
$4.575 million on the prior year (2016: $97.079 million). 
This included a $1.062 million increase in depreciation 
(associated with expansion in infrastructure), as well 
as an increase in expenditure on facilities and the cost 
of turf replacement at AAMI Park. The Trust also made 
a $6.0 million financial transfer to government (2016: 
$3.0 million), which is used to support the Victorian 
Government’s sport and recreation programs and facilities.

The net result for 2016/17 was a loss of $19.997 million 
(2016: profit of $244,000), this was predominately due to 
the recognition of a $12.770 million loss on disposal as a 
result of the demolition of the indoor courts complex and 
public café and increased support for sports development, 
as well as, a decline in Rod Laver Arena income.

Overview of Income
Australian Open

The Australian Open generated $813,000 more in income 
than in the prior year due to increased ticket and retail 
catering sales as a result of another record-breaking 
event attendance of 728,763 patrons.  The new Tanderrum 
Bridge set the stage for a new entry point and improved 
connection to the city. This allowed the event to expand into 
Birrarung Marr and provide additional entertainment and 
hospitality areas. New food and beverage options across 
the precinct provided an extended range of options, able to 
cater for a wide range of palates, while a Kids Ball Park and 
$5 ground passes for children ensured a full and affordable 
experience for families. 

Patrons experienced a spectacular weekend of finals 
featuring four of the most successful athletes in history 
- Venus Williams, Serena Williams, Roger Federer and 
Rafael Nadal. It was a fitting end to another outstanding 
tournament by CEO and Tournament Director, Craig Tiley 
and his team at Tennis Australia. 

All of Melbourne Park venues were utilised for the Australian 
Open.  The performance detailed below of Rod Laver Arena, 
Hisense Arena, Margaret Court Arena and Premier Events 
& Experiences (Melbourne Park Function Centre) deal with 
the period outside of the  Australian Open.

Rod Laver Arena

Rod Laver Arena hosted less event days during the rest 
of the year due to a decline in the international touring 
market and the unavailability of the venue for a period due 
to the redevelopment works.  This resulted in a decrease to 
income of $7.928 million year-on-year.  

Rod Laver Arena welcomed back music legends Blondie and 
Cyndi Lauper, Don Henley, Slipknot, The Cure, Green Day, 
Santana, and the Doobie Brothers, hosted 12 Disney on Ice 
shows, and the only Australian UFC event in 2016. 

Immediately following the 2017 Australian Open, Rod Laver 
Arena became a construction site; the demolition of old 
administration offices and indoor tennis courts made way 
for work on Rod Laver Arena’s new entrance and hospitality 
areas. From May, the arena was closed down for a period 
of three months to allow for the comprehensive works to 
modernise seating and back-of-house areas; as well as 
upgrade amenities, bars and food outlets throughout the 
internal concourse. Other works included the strengthening 
of the roof to support bigger productions of up to 
100-tonnes and to improve operating speed and reliability 
of the 30-year-old operable roof.

Hisense Arena

Hisense Arena recorded a busy year and welcomed almost 
342,000 guests at 68 event days, up from 59 in 2016, 
which resulted in an increase in income of $969,000.  This 
year the Melbourne Vixens were joined by the Collingwood 
Magpies, which become our second netball home team. 
Melbourne United also continued to draw impressive 
crowds throughout the season. 

Other notable events held throughout the year included 
the Annual Austral Wheel Race, Australian Gymnastics 
Championships, netball and basketball leagues and Dance 
Sports. For the first time the Fast5 netball series was 
played in Australia, with New Zealand defeating Australia 
in convincing style. Following a sold-out RNB Fridays live 
at Hisense Arena; Frontier Touring took out the precinct 
concert  attendance record for all three Melbourne Park 
Arenas, as well as AAMI Park. 

Margaret Court Arena 

Margaret Court Arena had a strong year with 165,700 
guests over 44 event days – 14 more event days than the 
previous year. This resulted in a growth in income for the 
year of $1.924 million. Two attendance records were broken 
at Margaret Court Arena, with the venue fast consolidating 
its position in the music scene. Troye Sivan was first to 
break the record, but was quickly surpassed just months 
later with a crowd of 7,133 at the show by American heavy 
metal band Disturbed. 

Some of the year’s most popular acts included Selena 
Gomez, Elvis the Wonder of You, The Pixies, Human Nature, 
and Bring Me the Horizon. 

Melbourne Park Function Centre 

Melbourne Park Function Centre utilisation decreased 
slightly to 52 per cent in 2017 (2016: 53%), but overall 
income increased by $511,000 during the year due to 
strong catering sales. 

More than 40,000 guests attended functions and events at 
132 event days at the Function Centre. 
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REPORT OF OPERATIONS

A key focus for the team this year was the design and 
delivery of new corporate events beyond the Function 
Centre, and into our arenas and corporate suites. In August 
the Premier Events & Experiences team invited 160 event 
influencers to a night of intrigue, showcasing how M&OP 
venues can be transformed for corporate events. The night 
was filled with food, drinks and entertainment at Hisense 
Arena.

AAMI Park

AAMI Park attracted more than 856,000 fans throughout 
the year to the football and rugby codes, as well as 
entertainment events. However, overall attendances were 
down on the prior year due to lower sports attendances and 
fewer concert days.  

In addition to AAMI Park being the home of the Melbourne 
Storm (rugby league), Melbourne Rebels (rugby union), 
Melbourne Victory and Melbourne City (football); AAMI Park 
also hosted other notable events including Monster Jam, 
Bruce Springsteen, the Wallabies Rugby Union Test Match, 
Melbourne Storm Qualifying & Preliminary Finals, an FFA 
cup semi-final, FFA cup final and an A-League elimination 
final.  The Melbourne Storm enjoyed a strong year, with a 
28,161 crowd at the Preliminary final against the Canberra 
Raiders, which secured them a place in the 2016 NRL Grand 
Final. 

Due to lower sports attendance and a reduction in concert 
days, there was a $1.812 million decrease in income on the 
prior year. 

Melbourne Park redevelopment and other capital 
improvements

Property, Plant & Equipment (less accumulated 
depreciation) increased by $455.951 million compared 
to last year, primarily due to the revaluation of land 
and buildings ($417.873 million) and Melbourne Park 
redevelopment construction costs ($82.5 million).

The transformation of Melbourne Park continued as part 
of the $338 million package of works for Stage 2 of the 
Melbourne Park Redevelopment and two new facilities 
were opened. September saw the opening of Tennis HQ 
– the new administration headquarters for Melbourne & 
Olympic Parks and Tennis Australia. Three months later, in 
December, the Tanderrum Bridge was opened; providing a   
pedestrian bridge linking Birrarung Marr to the centre of the 
site and creating a new entrance to the precinct.  

More than $16 million was invested directly by the Trust 
in capital works to improve and upgrade facilities and 
infrastructure during the year.  These works were mainly 
in relation to upgrades of Rod Laver Arena’s operable roof; 

improvement in sport lights for both Rod Laver Arena and 
Hisense Arena; and replacement of plant, equipment  and 
technology. 

Gosch’s Paddock

Gosch’s Paddock continued to be an important training 
space for AAMI Park tenant clubs; the Melbourne Football 
Club, Melbourne Victory, Melbourne Rebels and the 
Melbourne Storm. When not in use for formal training, 
Gosch’s Paddock is open to members of the public. Ongoing 
maintenance and a small renovation was performed 
throughout the year to maximise opportunities for both 
elite sport and recreational and community use.

Community engagement and sports development

M&OP as an organisation and precinct is committed to 
embracing equality, diversity and inclusion for all patrons 
and employees.

A key priority for the Trust is also to support sporting 
and community organisations with affordable access to 
its venues. As well as supporting government sporting 
programs, M&OP delivered nine community events this year. 

Of the nine events, three were of particular significance; 
including the first-ever CEO Tennis Challenge by M&OP’s 
charity partner, Whitelion. The event was a great success, 
raising around $15,000 for the important charity. 

In November more than 2000 women took up the challenge 
to work out and break five Guinness World Records in a 
boot camp, run by fitness guru Kayla Itsines, at The Oval. 
The boot camp broke records for the most number of people 
performing different exercises at once; including star 
jumps, lunges, sit-ups and squats. 

Finally, M&OP was also proud to welcome popular Fox FM 
109.9 breakfast radio show - Fifi, Dave, Fev & Byron – for 
the ‘best party ever’ and a live broadcast at Margaret Court 
Arena in May. The event was the 7th birthday celebration for 
Logan, a little boy with Spina Bifida who had found it difficult 
finding friends with none attending his birthday party last 
year. The party took over Margaret Court Arena and was an 
unforgettable morning for a deserving little boy.
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LIST OF EVENTS 2016 - 2017

Rod Laver Arena
• Disney on Ice (12 shows)
• The Cure  
• Macklemore and Ryan 

Lewis 
• WWE  
• The Footy Show  
• Ellie Goulding  
• Michael McIntyre  
• Andre Rieu 
• Slipknot 
• Dynamo  (4 shows)
• UFC Fight Night
• The Wiggles Live (3 

shows)
• Keith Urban & Carrie 

Underwood (2 shows)
• James Taylor  
• Don Henley 
• Twenty One Pilots  
• Dixie Chicks (2 shows)
• Blondie & Cyndi Lauper 
• Santana  
• Salman Khan    

(Da Bang Tour)
• Hans Zimmer  
• Green Day (2 shows)

Hisense Arena
• Transmission 2016
• Boomers Farewell Series 

(2 shows)
• The 1975 
• Danny Green  v Kane Watt
• Jeunesse University 2016
• Olympia Cheer & Dance 

(2 shows)
• Victorian State Schools 

Spectacular (2 shows)
• Dreamstate
• Melbourne United v 

Adelaide
• Melbourne United v 

Illawarra

• Melbourne United v 
Brisbane Bullets 

• Melbourne United v Perth 
Wildcats

• Fast5 Netball World Series 
(2 shows)

• Melbourne United v New 
Zealand Breakers 

• Melbourne United v 
Sydney Kings

• Melbourne United v Cairns 
Taipans

• Ball Up 
• RnB Fridays
• Melbourne United v 

Sydney Kings
• Melbourne United v New 

Zealand Breakers
• 71st Australian 

Dancesport 
Championship (3 shows)

• Austral Wheelrace
• Melbourne United v 

Brisbane Bullets 
• Melbourne United v 

Illawara Hawks 
• Melbourne United v Perth 

Wildcats
• Vixens v Magpies 
• Gymnastics  World Cup (4 

shows)
• Porter Robinson & 

Madeon
• Magpies v Giants 
• Vixens v Fever
• Magpies v Thunderbirds
• Vixens v Giants 
• Magpies v Vixens 
• Magpies v Fever 
• Planetshakers 

Conference (4 shows)
• Subculture 2017
• Vixens v Firebirds 
• Magpies v Swift
• Magpies v Lightning             

• Australian Gymnastics 
Championships (12 
shows)

• I Love the 90s 
• Suncorp Super Netball 

Prelim Final 
• USA v Canada Ice Hockey
• Chris Rock 
• Playing it Forward

AAMI Park
• Melbourne City 

Hyundai A-League (13 
home matches and 1 
final)

• Melbourne Rebels 
Super Rugby (8 home 
matches)

• Melbourne Storm 
National Rugby League 
(10 home matches and 2 
finals)

• Melbourne Victory 
Hyundai A-League (8 
home matches and 1 
final)

• Monster Jam (2 shows)
• Bruce Springsteen and 

the E Street Band  
(2 shows)

• Westfield FFA Cup 
Quarter Final - Melbourne 
City vs Western Sydney 
Wanderers 
Semi Final – Melbourne 
Victory vs Melbourne City  
Grand Final – Melbourne 
City vs Sydney FC

• Open House Melbourne 
• Melbourne Victory Open 

Day 
• ICC Training 
• National Premier Leagues 

South Melbourne FC vs 
Heidelberg FC 

• ARU Wallabies Test Match 
Australia vs Fiji 

Margaret Court Arena
• James Blake  
• Selena Gomez (2 shows)
• Troye Sivan 
• An Evening with Steve 

Wozniak 
• 2016 Quad Series  
• Slimefest (2 shows)
• Richie Sambora and 

Orianthi 
• 5 Seconds of 

Summer  
• De Yu She  
• Delta Goodrem  
• Disturbed  
• WWE NXT 
• Human Nature (2 shows)
• Bring me the Horizon  

(2 shows)
• Simple Minds & 

B-52s 
• Jose Carreras 
• Awakening  
• The Pixies (2 shows)
• Istoria 
• Jessica Mauboy 
• #50BestTalks  
• Paw Patrol (9 shows)
• G.U.T.S World Tour  
• Zac Brown Band  
• Vixens v Lightning
• Vixens v 

Thunderbirds  
• Ryan Adams  
• Logan’s 7th Birthday 
• Body Count & Ice T
• Suncorp Super Netball 

Major Semi-Final  
• Elvis the Wonder of You  

(3 shows)  
• Grinspoon 
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Key Statistics

Major Capital Expenditure

Expenditure Type Amount Details

Melbourne Park $1,732,712 Included upgrades to access management, tennis and office facilities 
and grounds maintenance works.

Rod Laver Arena $3,939,934 Included upgrades to roof, sports lights, floor, lifts and superboxes.

Hisense Arena $4,249,240 Included upgrades to chiller plant, concourse carpet, access control, 
sports lights, back-of-house areas, balustrades and uninterrupted power 
supply.

Margaret Court Arena  $221,814 Included upgrades to loading dock and undercroft.

Olympic Park Precinct  $3,995,682 Included upgrades to training grounds, themed lighting, signage, fire 
protection, player changerooms, function room carpets, corporate areas, 
stadium control centre and amenities. 

Equipment and Technology $2,309,520 Included upgrades to public wifi controllers, security cameras, IPTV, 
firewall, digital displays, EBMS and radios. 

TOTAL $16,448,902  

Note: Stage 2 of the Melbourne Park Redevelopment continues to be managed and undertaken by Development Victoria. 
During the year $75 million was spent, bringing the total expenditure for Stage 2 to $162.3 million.

 2016/17  2015/16   
Number of event days - Melbourne Park    184   177
Number of event days - AAMI Park    58   60 
Number of event days - Melbourne Park Function Centre   132   146
Total ticketed patronage   2,487,058   2,499,790
Rod Laver Arena event ticketed attendance    392,787   548,536
Hisense Arena event ticketed attendance   341,824   288,014
AAMI Park event ticketed attendance   856,100   839,117
Margaret Court Arena event ticketed attendance    165,700   103,750
Melbourne Park Function Centre patrons    40,242   42,005
Attendance at Australian Open    728,763   720,373
Number of website visitors (all M&OP sites)    1,415,116   1,416,678
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OUR PARTNERS 
The Trust would like to thank the following organisations for their support over the past year.

Tenants
Calibre Feasts

Collingwood Football Club

Imaging @ Olympic Park

Melbourne Football Club

Melbourne Rebels 

Melbourne Storm

Melbourne Victory

Olympic Park Sports Medicine Centre

Tennis Australia

Tennis Victoria

Victorian Olympic Council

Venue Partners
AAMI

Adecco

Capricorn Stages and Rigging

Delaware North Companies Australia

Hisense Australia

MSS Security 

O’Brien Catering Group Australia

Microhire

St John Ambulance

Ticketek Australia

Tennis Australia

Regular Arena Hirers
Chugg Entertainment

Collingwood Football Club (Collingwood Magpies)

Feld Entertainment

Frontier Touring Company

Live Nation Australasia

Melbourne United 

Netball Victoria (Melbourne Vixens)

Secret Sounds

TEG Dainty

TEG Live

AAMI Park Clubs
Melbourne City 

Melbourne Rebels

Melbourne Storm

Melbourne Victory
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MELBOURNE & OLYMPIC  
PARKS TRUST
FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Comprehensive Operating Statement

Balance Sheet

Statement of Changes in Equity

Cash Flow Statement

Notes to Financial Statements
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NOTES 2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

INCOME FROM TRANSACTIONS   
Sales of goods and services (2a) 92,929               95,113 
Interest                    907                    887 

Other Income (2b)                    616                 1,143 
TOTAL INCOME FROM TRANSACTIONS               94,452               97,143 

EXPENSES FROM TRANSACTIONS   
Cost of goods sold/distributed (3a)               14,375 15,655 
Purchase of services (3b) 22,241 22,008 
Employee expenses (3c)               17,748               18,237 
Depreciation & amortisation (8) 32,462 31,446 
Other operating expenses (3d)                 8,828                 6,733 
Government Financial Transfer (3e) 6,000 3,000 
TOTAL EXPENSES FROM TRANSACTIONS             101,654               97,079 

NET RESULT FROM TRANSACTIONS (NET OPERATING BALANCE) (7,202)                      64 

  
Other economic flows included in net result   
Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets (4a) (12,737)                      87 
Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service liability (4b)                    (57)                      93 

Total other economic flows included in net result (12,794)                    180 
  

Net result (19,997)                    244 
  

OTHER ECONOMIC FLOWS - OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   

Items that will not be reclassified to the net result   

Change in Asset Revaluation Reserve (8)             417,873               90,636 

Total other economic flows - other comprehensive income             417,873               90,636 

  

Comprehensive result 397,876 90,880 

The above comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statement.

COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
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BALANCE SHEET
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

NOTES 2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

ASSETS   
  

FINANCIAL ASSETS   
Cash and cash equivalents (5)               94,120               67,708 
Receivables (6)                 3,525                 5,016 
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS               97,645               72,724 

  
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS   
Prepayments (7)               25,140               15,860 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (8)          1,915,535          1,459,584 
TOTAL NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS          1,940,675          1,475,444 

  

TOTAL ASSETS          2,038,320          1,548,168 

LIABILITIES   
Payables (9)               10,073               20,528 
Provisions (10)                 3,298                 3,076 
Other liabilities (11)               48,494               28,485 
TOTAL LIABILITIES               61,865               52,089 

  
  

NET ASSETS          1,976,455          1,496,079 

EQUITY   
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)             183,787             203,784 
Reserves             823,184             405,311 
Contributed capital             969,484             886,984 
NET WORTH          1,976,455          1,496,079 

Commitments for expenditure (13)

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities (14/15)

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statement.
Restatement of prior year comparatives is outlined in Note 24.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

NOTE Physical Asset
Revaluation 

Surplus
$’000

Accumulated
Surplus

$’000

 Contributions 
 by Owner 

$’000

Total
$’000

Balance at 30 June 2015 314,675 203,540 839,984 1,358,199 

    

Net Result for the Year  244  244 

    

Transactions with owners in their  
capacity as owners

  47,000 47,000 

    

Revaluation of Assets (8) 90,636   90,636 

    

Balance at 30 June 2016 405,311 203,784 886,984 1,496,079 

Net Result for the Year  (19,997)  (19,997) 

    

Transactions with owners in their capac-
ity as owners

  82,500 82,500 

    

Revaluation of Assets (8) 417,873   417,873 

    

Balance at 30 June 2017 823,184 183,787 969,484 1,976,455 
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

NOTES 2017 
$’000

2016 
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

RECEIPTS   
Receipts from customers         87,102         79,067 
Customer receipts on behalf of suppliers       153,798       141,342 
Interest received              907              887 
Goods and Services Tax received from the ATO           6,345           6,565 
Other Receipts              616           1,143 
TOTAL RECEIPTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES       248,768       229,004 

PAYMENTS
Payments to suppliers and employees      (68,468)      (63,250) 
Payments to suppliers on behalf of customers    (132,535)    (167,284) 
Goods and Services Tax paid to the ATO        (9,561)      (10,162) 
Payments to Government (financial transfer)        (6,000)        (3,000) 
TOTAL PAYMENTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    (216,564)    (243,696) 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES (17b)         32,200      (14,692) 
  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Payments for non-financial assets      (88,324)      (69,387) 
Receipts on sale of non-financial assets                33                87 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES      (88,291)      (69,300) 
  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Receipts from Government (capital)         82,500         47,000 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES         82,500         47,000 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents         26,409      (36,992) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year         67,708       104,700 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR (17a)         94,120         67,708 

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Restatement of prior year comparatives is outlined in Note 24. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of Compliance
These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA), 
applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AAS), which includes the 
Australian accounting standards issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB).  In particular, they are presented in a 
manner consistent with the requirements of AASB 1049 Whole of 
Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which 
ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the 
concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the 
substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.

To gain a better understanding of the terminology used in this report, 
a glossary of terms and style conventions can be found in Note 25.

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the 
Trustees on 23 August 2017.

(b) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement
The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the preparation 
of these financial statements whereby assets, liabilities, equity, 
income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to 
which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made 
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from 
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period or in the period of the revision, and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future periods.  Judgements 
and assumptions made by management in the application of 
AASs that have significant effects on the financial statements and 
estimates relate to:

• the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment, (refer to Note 1(k)); and

• assumptions for employee benefit provisions based on likely 
tenure of existing staff, patterns of leave claims, future salary 
movements and future discount rates (refer to Note 1(m)).

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Management, Melbourne 
and Olympic Parks Trust (the Trust) determines the policies and 
procedures for recurring fair value measurements for property, 
plant and equipment, in accordance with the requirements of AASB 
13 and the relevant Financial Reporting Directions.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or 
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 

input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

•  Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or 
indirectly observable; and

•  Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Trust has 
determined classes of assets and liabilities based on the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the 
fair value hierarchy as explained above.

In addition, the Trust determines whether transfers have occurred 
between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is the Trust’s independent 
valuation agency.  VGV has utilised the services of Napier & 
Blakeley, a third party valuer to determine fair value of the Trust’s 
assets. The Trust’s assets were independently revalued at 30 June 
2017 as required by the Financial Management Act 1994 and was 
conducted by Napier & Blakeley on behalf of the Valuer-General 
Victoria who have provided replacement cost and depreciated 
replacement cost on the inspected properties (Rod Laver Arena 
and surrounding grounds, Hisense Arena, AAMI Park and Holden 
Centre).  Works in Progress relating to the redevelopment have not 
been included in the revaluation.

The Trust, in conjunction with VGV (and Napier & Blakely), monitors 
changes in the fair value of each asset and liability through 
relevant data sources to determine whether revaluation is required.

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the 
functional and presentation currency of the Trust.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in 
preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2017 and the comparative information presented for the year 
ended 30 June 2016.

(c) Reporting entity
The financial statements cover the Trust as an individual reporting 
entity.  The Trust is a government agency of the State of Victoria, 
established pursuant to the provisions of the Melbourne and 
Olympic Parks Act 1985.  

Its principal address is:

Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust
Batman Avenue
Melbourne VIC 3001
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Objectives and funding
The Melbourne and Olympic Parks Act 1985 outlines that the 
purpose of the Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust (M&OP) 
is to administer, manage and promote the use of Melbourne 
and Olympic Parks for the purposes of tennis, other sports, 
entertainment and recreation.

M&OP in its planning delivers on this purpose by ensuring that the 
precinct is:

• Accessible, well utilised and valued by Victorians 

• Recognised as being of international standing for tennis, sport 
and entertainment

• Supports Victoria’s broader sport, tourism and major events 
strategies; and 

• Financially sustainable. 

(d) Scope and presentations of financial statements
Comprehensive operating statement
The comprehensive operating statement comprises three 
components, being ‘net result from transactions’ (or termed as ‘net 
operating balance’), ‘other economic flows included in net result’, 
as well as ‘other economic flows – other comprehensive income’. 
The sum of the former two represents the net result.

The net result is equivalent to profit or loss derived in accordance 
with AASs.

‘Other economic flows’ are changes arising from market 
remeasurements.  They include:

• gains and losses from disposals of non-financial assets;

• revaluations and impairments of non-financial physical and 
intangible assets;

• revaluation of long service leave liability

This classification is consistent with the whole of government 
reporting format and is allowed under AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements.

Refer to Note 25 Glossary for the definitions of ‘net result from 
transactions, ‘other economic flows included in net result’ and 
‘other economic flows – other comprehensive income’.

Balance sheet
Assets and liabilities are presented in liquidity order with assets 
aggregated into, financial assets and non-financial assets.
Current and non-current assets or liabilities (those expected to be 
recovered or settled beyond 12 months) are disclosed in the notes, 
where relevant.

Cash held on behalf of customers represents cash received for 
event ticket sales which is held at bank from the time tickets are 
purchased and paid out to the hirer after the event has taken place.  A 
corresponding liability to customers is also held and included within 
other liabilities.

Cash flow statement
Cash flows are classified according to whether or not they arise 
from operating activities, investing activities, or financing activities. 
This classification is consistent with requirements under AASB 107 
Statement of cash flows.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash 
equivalents.

Statement of changes in equity
The statement of changes in equity presents reconciliations of 
non-owner and owner changes in equity from opening balance at 
the beginning of the reporting period to the closing balance at the 
end of the reporting period. It also shows separately changes due 
to amounts recognised in the ‘Comprehensive result’ and amounts 
recognised in ‘Other economic flows – other movements in equity’ 
related to ‘Transactions with owner in its capacity as owner’.

(e) Events after reporting date
Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions 
or other past events. Where the transactions result from an 
agreement between the Trust and other parties, the transactions 
are only recognised when the agreement is irrevocable at or before 
the end of the reporting period.

Adjustments are made to amounts recognised in the financial 
statements for events which occur after the reporting period and 
before the date the financial statements are authorised for issue, 
where those events provide information about conditions which 
existed in the reporting period. Note disclosure is made about 
events between the end of the reporting period and the date the 
financial statements are authorised for issue where the events 
relate to conditions which arose after the end of the reporting 
period and which may have a material impact on the results of 
subsequent reporting periods.

(f) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of 
associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST 
receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables 
or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components 
of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which 
are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are 
presented as operating cash flows.

(g) Income from transactions
Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable.  Amounts disclosed as income are net of returns, 
trade allowances and duties and taxes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

(g) Income from transactions (continued)
Sale of goods and services
Sale of goods and services is recognised upon delivery of the 
goods and services to the customer and when the Trust gains 
control of the underlying assets.  This includes royalty income from 
catering and merchandising sales and rental income from tenants 
in the buildings on the precinct which is recognised for the period 
in which it relates.

Interest
Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis that 
takes into account the effective yield on the financial asset.

(h) Expenses from transactions
Payments to third parties are recognised as an expense in the 
reporting period in which they are paid or are payable.

Cost of goods sold/distributed
Purchase costs of goods sold/distributed are recognised as an 
expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Purchase of services
Purchase of services are recognised as an expense in the reporting 
period in which they are incurred.

Employee expenses
These expenses include all forms of considerations given by 
M&OP in exchange for service rendered by employees or for the 
termination of employment. This includes wages and salaries, 
fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments and 
WorkCover premiums.

Superannuation
The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating 
statement is the employer contributions for members of defined 
contribution superannuation plans that are paid or payable 
during the reporting period.

Details of the funds which the Trust made superannuation 
contributions to during the year are disclosed in Note 22.

Depreciation and amortisation
In compliance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB116 
Property, Plant and Equipment, depreciation and amortisation has 
been charged on all fixed assets and capital works developments, 
with the exception of Land.  

The provisions for depreciation are made using the straight-line 
method, at rates appropriate to the estimated useful life to the 
Trust of each individual asset.  Estimates of the remaining useful 
lives for all assets are reviewed annually and range from greater 
than zero up to one hundred and ten years.  The Trust’s policy is to 
capitalise assets valued over $5,000, whilst assets of less than 
$5,000 in value are expensed immediately.   

The following are typical estimated useful lives for different asset 
classes for both current and prior years:

Asset Class Useful Life

2017 2016

Buildings 50 – 70  years 50 – 110 years

Plant & Equipment 5 - 25 years 5 – 60 years

Motor Vehicles 5 years 5 years

Intangible Assets 5 years 5 years

The residual value and useful life of the assets are reviewed 
annually.

Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day 
running costs incurred in normal operations and are recognised as 
an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Government financial transfers
Government financial transfers represents payment made by the Trust 
to the Government for support of sport and recreation programs.

(i) Other economic flows included in the net result
Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes 
realised and unrealised gains and losses as follows:

 (i) Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-financial assets
    Any gain or loss on disposal of non-current assets is 

recognised at the date control of the asset is passed to 
the buyer and is determined after deducting from the 
proceeds the carrying value of the asset at that time. 
Disposals will also include any assets written-off and/or 
no longer available for use.

 (ii) Impairment of non-financial assets
    All of the Trust’s assets are assessed annually for 

indications of impairment.

    If there is an indication of impairment, the assets 
concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value 
exceeds their possible recoverable amount. Where 
an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the difference is written off by a charge to the 
comprehensive operating statement except to the extent 
that the write-down can be debited to an asset revaluation 
reserve amount applicable to that class of asset.

    It is deemed that, in the event of the loss of an asset, 
the future economic benefits arising from the use of the 
asset will be replaced unless a specific decision to the 
contrary has been made. The recoverable amount of most 
major assets is measured at the higher of the depreciated 
replacement cost and fair value less costs to sell. 

    The depreciated replacement cost is the current 
replacement cost of an asset less, where applicable, 
accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such 
cost to reflect the already consumed or expired future 
economic benefits of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service leave 
liability
    Net gain/(loss) from the revaluation of long service 

leave liability arises due to changes in the bond interest 
rates;

(j) Financial instruments
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that 
give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity.  Due to the nature of the Trust’s 
activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under 
statute rather than a contract.  Such financial assets and financial 
liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 
132 Financial Instruments: Presentation.  For example, statutory 
receivables arising from taxes, fines and penalties do not meet the 
definition of financial instruments as they do not arise under contract.

Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made 
between those financial assets and financial liabilities that meet the 
definition of financial instruments in accordance with AASB 132 and 
those that do not.

The following refers to financial instruments unless otherwise stated.

Categories of non-derivative financial instruments

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial instrument assets with fixed 
and determinable payments that are not quoted on an active 
market.  These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus 
any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial 
measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using effective interest method, less any impairment.

Loans and receivables category includes cash and cash 
equivalents (refer to Note 1 (k)), term deposits with maturity 
greater than three months, trade receivables, loans and other 
receivables, but not statutory receivables.

Financial liabilities amortised at cost
Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on the 
date they are originated. They are initially measured at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, these financial instruments are measured at 
amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised 
amount and the redemption value being recognised in profit and 
loss over the period of the interest-bearing liability, using the 
effective interest rate method.

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include 
all of the Trusts contractual payables, deposits held and advances 
received, and interest-bearing arrangements other than those 
designated at fair value through profit or loss.

(k)  Assets
All assets controlled by the Trust are reported in the balance sheet.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, comprise cash on hand and cash at 
bank, deposits at call and those highly liquid investments with an 
original maturity of three months or less, which are held for the 
purpose of meeting short term cash commitments rather than for 
investment purposes, and which are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value.  

Receivables
Receivables consist of:
• statutory receivables, which include predominantly amounts 

owing from the Victorian Government and GST input tax credits 
recoverable; and

• contractual receivables, which include mainly debtors in 
relation to goods and services and accrued investment 
income.

Receivables that are contractual are classified as financial 
instruments. Statutory receivables are not classified as financial 
instruments.

A provision for doubtful receivables is made when there is objective 
evidence that the debts will not be collected. Bad debts are written 
off when identified.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Land, buildings and plant and equipment are recognised initially 
at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment.

(l) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets represent identifiable non-monetary assets 
without physical substance.   Intangible assets are initially 
recognised at cost.  Cost incurred subsequent to initial acquisition 
are capitalised when it is expected that additional future economic 
benefits will flow to the Trust.  

Revaluations of non-current physical assets
Non-current physical assets measured at fair value are revalued 
in accordance with the new FRD 103F issued by the Minister 
for Finance.  A full revaluation occurs at least every five years, 
based on the asset’s government purpose classification, but may 
occur more frequently if fair value assessments indicate material 
changes in values. Independent valuers are used to conduct 
these scheduled revaluations and any interim revaluations are 
determined in accordance with the requirements of the FRDs. 

Net revaluation increases (where the carrying amount of a class 
of assets is increased as a result of a revaluation) are recognised 
in ‘other economic flows – other comprehensive income’, and 
accumulated in equity under the asset revaluation surplus. 
However, the net revaluation increase is recognised in the net 
result to the extent that it reverses a net revaluation decrease 
in respect of the same class of property, plant and equipment 
previously recognised as an expense (other economic flows) in the 
net result.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

(l) Intangible Assets (continued)
Net revaluation decrease is recognised in ‘other economic flows – 
other comprehensive income’ to the extent that a credit balance 
exists in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class 
of property, plant and equipment. Otherwise, the net revaluation 
decreases are recognised immediately as other economic flows in 
the net result. The net revaluation decrease recognised in ‘other 
economic flows – other comprehensive income’ reduces the 
amount accumulated in equity under the asset revaluation surplus.

Revaluation increases and decreases relating to individual assets 
in a class of property, plant and equipment, are offset against 
one another in that class but are not offset in respect of assets in 
different classes. The asset revaluation surplus is not transferred 
to accumulated funds on derecognition of the relevant asset.

Other
Prepayments
Represent payments in advance of receipts of goods and services 
or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering 
a term extending beyond that period.

(m) Liabilities
Payables
Payables consist of:
• contractual payables, such as accounts payable, and 

unearned income including deferred income from concession 
notes. Accounts payable represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the Trust prior to the end of the financial 
year that are unpaid, and arise when the Trust becomes 
obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase 
of those goods and services; and

• statutory payables, such as goods and services tax and fringe 
benefits tax payables.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present obligation, 
the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable and the 
amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the 
consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting 
date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is 
the present value of those cash flows, using a discount rate that 
reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the provision.

Employee Benefits
(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave

  Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits and annual leave are recognised in the provision for 
employee benefits as ‘current liabilities’ because the Trust 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of 
these liabilities.

  Depending on the expectation of the timing of the settlement, 
liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are 
measured at:

 •  Nominal value – if the Trust expects to wholly settle 
within 12 months; or

 •  Present Value – if the Trust does not expect to wholly 
settle within 12 months.

(ii) Long Service Leave
  A liability for long service leave is recognised, and is measured 

as the present value of expected future payments to be 
made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date.  Consideration is given to expected future wage 
and salary levels, experience of employee departures and 
period of service.  

  All unconditional vested long service leave representing 
7 years or greater of continuous service is disclosed 
in accordance with AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements, as a current liability. Liability for long service leave 
(LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. 

  •  Current liability unconditional LSL (representing 
seven or more years of continuous service for staff) 
is disclosed as a current liability even where the Trust 
does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months 
because it will not have the unconditional right to defer 
the settlement of the entitlement should an employee 
take leave within 12 months.

 The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:
 –  Present value – component that the Trust does not 

expect to wholly settle within 12 months; and
 –  Nominal value – component that the Trust expects to 

wholly settle within 12 months.

 •  Non-current liability – conditional LSL (representing 
less than seven years of continuous service for 
staff) is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is 
an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
entitlement until the employee has completed the 
requisite years of service.

 This non-current LSL liability is measured at present value.

  Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of 
non-current LSL liability is recognised in the ‘net result from 
transactions’, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises 
due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then 
recognised in the net result as another economic flow.

(iii) Termination benefits
  Termination benefits are payable when employment is 

terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for 
these benefits. The Trust recognises termination benefits 
when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating 
the employment of current employees according to a 
detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or 
providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to 
encourage voluntary redundancy.  Benefits falling due more 
than 12 months after balance sheet date are discounted to 
present value.
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Employee Benefit On-Costs
Employee benefits on-costs such as payroll tax and workers 
compensation are recognised separately from the provision for 
employee benefits.

(n) Income taxes
The Australian Taxation Office has deemed the Trust to be a “Public 
Authority” within the terms of Section 50-25 of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997 and therefore any income shall be exempt 
from income tax. The Trust is not subject to the National Tax 
Equivalent Regime. No provisions for income taxes payable have 
been raised.

(o) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in 
the balance sheet, but are disclosed by way of a note
and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are presented inclusive 
of GST receivables or payables respectively.

(p) Rounding of Amounts
Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the 
nearest $1,000 unless otherwise stated.

(q) Contributed Capital
Transfers from the Department of Health and Human Services that 
are in the nature of contributions or distributions of capital have 
also been designated as contributed capital.  Other transfers that 
are in the nature of contributions or distributions have also been 
designated as contributions by owners.

(r) Leased assets
MOPT as Lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight 
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

MOPT as Lessee
All leased assets are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including any contingent rentals, 
are recognised as an expense in the comprehensive operating 
statement on a straight line basis over the lease term, except 
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset. The 
leased asset is not recognised in the balance sheet.

(s) Commitments
Commitments for future expenditure include operating and 
capital commitments arising from contracts. These commitments 
are disclosed by way of a note (refer to Note 13 Commitments 
for expenditure) at their nominal value and inclusive of the GST 
payable. In addition, where it is considered appropriate and 
provides additional relevant information to users, the net present 
values of significant individual projects are stated. These future 
expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments once the 
related liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet.
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Topic Key requirements Effective date

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers

The core principle of AASB 15 requires an entity 
to recognise revenue when the entity satisfies a 
performance obligation by transferring a promised 
good or service to a customer. Note that amending 
standard AASB 2015 8 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15 
has deferred the effective date of AASB 15 to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, 
instead of 1 January 2017.  AASB 2016-7 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 
15 for Not-for-Profit Entities. This standard defers the 
mandatory effective date of AASB 15 for not-for-profit 
entities from 1 January 2018 to 1 January 2019.

1 January 2019

AASB 16 Leases The key changes introduced by AASB 16 include the 
recognition of most operating leases (which are 
currently not recognised) on balance sheet.

1 January 2019

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit 
Entities

This Standard will replace AASB 1004 Contributions 
and establishes principles for transactions that are not 
within the scope of AASB 15, where the consideration to 
acquire an asset is significantly less than fair value to 
enable not-for-profit entities to further their objectives.

1 January 2019

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

(t) Australian Accounting Standards issued that are not yet effective
Certain new AASs have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2017 reporting period. DTF assesses the impact of these 
new standards and advises the Trust of their applicability and early adoption where applicable. 
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2. INCOME FROM TRANSACTIONS

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

(a) Sales of goods and services $'000 $'000 
Sale of goods          14,416          13,241 
Rendering of services          64,392          67,930 
Royalties          14,121          13,942 

         92,929          95,113 

(b) Other income   
Delaware North Australia Capital Contribution                615                615 
Tennis Australia Special Purpose Account     -                  526 
Cancelled Event Ticket Income      1      2 

               616             1,143 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

3. EXPENSES FROM TRANSACTIONS

NOTE 2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

(a) Cost of goods sold/distributed   
Venue Hire                 933             3,064 
Catering            12,871           11,769 
Other                 571                822 

          14,375          15,655 

(b) Purchase of services
Administration              4,019             4,186 

Event Contractors            12,701           12,716 

Utilities              3,340             3,254 

Recruitment, Training & Development                 594                510 

Other              1,587             1,342 

          22,241          22,008 

(c) Employee expenses
Salaries, wages, annual leave and long service leave            16,321           16,673 
Defined contribution superannuation expense 22             1,361             1,436 
Termination benefits    66                128 

           17,748           18,237 

(d) Other operating expenses
Maintenance              7,416             5,745 
Operating lease expenses                 191                183 
Purchase of supplies and consumables              1,081                801 
Other                 140     4 

             8,828             6,733 

(e) Government Financial Transfers
Payment to Government for support of sport and recreation programs              6,000             3,000 

             6,000             3,000 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

4. OTHER ECONOMIC FLOWS INCLUDED IN NET RESULT 

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

(a) Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property plant and equipment (including intangible assets)   33   87 

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of redevelopment property plant and equipment        (12,771)     -   

       (12,737)   87 

(b) Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service liability

Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service liability                (57)   93 

               (57)   93 

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash floats held   88   88 
Cash at bank          47,272          41,621 
Cash at bank (ticket sales for future events - not available for use)          41,704          20,648 
Term deposits             4,750             4,750 
Bank deposits (restricted use)                306                601 
Total Cash and cash equivalents          94,120          67,708 

6.  RECEIVABLES

Current
Contractual
Other receivables (ii)             2,736             3,338 
Provision for doubtful debts (i)   (5)   (5) 

            2,731             3,333 
Statutory
Amount owing from Victorian Government (iii)   68                112 
Taxes Recoverable                726             1,571 

               794             1,683 

Total current receivables             3,525             5,016 

(a) Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts 

Balance at beginning of financial year  5  5 
Balance at end of financial year  5  5 

(i)  A provision has been made for amounts where collection is considered no longer probable, determined by reference to issues relating to individual accounts.
(ii)  Receivables are carried at nominal amounts due.  The average credit period on settling of monies owed is 7 days.  No interest is charged on other receivables for 

outstanding balances.
(iii)  The amounts receivable from the Victorian Government represent monies owing from Victorian Government Departments/Agencies relating to contributions 

towards capital projects, tenancies and redevelopment costs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

6.  RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Ageing analysis of receivables

Please refer to Table 16.3 in Note 16 for ageing analysis of receivables.

(c) Nature and extent of risk arising from receivables

Please refer to Note 16 for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from receivables.

7. PREPAYMENTS

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

Current   
Prepaid Expenditure                173                378 

Prepaid Capital Expenditure          24,967          15,482 

         25,140          15,860 

8. PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

Land at fair value (i)            910,000            478,236 

           910,000            478,236 

Buildings and improvements at revaluation (ii)            903,902            551,232 

Buildings at fair value                1,533            408,861 

Less accumulated depreciation  (792)           (90,697) 

Written down value            904,643            869,396 

Plant and equipment at fair value              42,565              38,892 

Less accumulated depreciation           (28,772)           (25,124) 

Written down value              13,793              13,768 

Work in progress              86,809              97,688 

             86,809              97,688 

Total property, plant and equipment        1,944,809        1,574,909 

Less accumulated depreciation           (29,564)         (115,821) 

Written down value        1,915,245        1,459,088 

  

Intangible Assets                1,908                1,908 

Less accumulated amortisation              (1,618)              (1,412) 

Written down value     290     496 

  

Written down value property, plant, equipment and intangible assets        1,915,535        1,459,584 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

8. PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(i) Land at fair value

Land was independently revalued at 30 June 2017 as required by the Financial Management Act 1994 and was conducted by the Valuer-
General Victoria.  Due to restrictions on the usage of the land, a notional discount of 40% known as ‘Community Service Obligation’ has been 
applied to the Unrestricted Land Value.

(ii) Buildings and Improvements and Plant & Equipment at revaluation 2017

Buildings, Plant & Equipment was independently revalued at 3 0 June 2017 as required by the Financial Management Act 1994 and was 
conducted by Napier & Blakeley on behalf of the Valuer-General Victoria who have provided replacement cost and depreciated replacement 
cost on the inspected properties (Rod Laver Arena and surrounding grounds, Hisense Arena, AAMI Park and Holden Centre).  Works in Progress 
relating to the redevelopment have not been included in the revaluation.

RECONCILIATIONS

Classification by ‘Public safety and environment’ purpose group – Movements in carrying amounts.

Land at fair 
value

Buildings at 
fair value

Plant & 
Equipment 

at fair value

Intangibles 
at fair value

Work in 
Progress  

at cost

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Year ended 30 June 2016
Carrying amount at start of year        387,600        891,400          10,363                445          37,021 1,326,829 
Additions     -                  681             7,264                303          69,916 78,164 
Transfers     -               9,129                120     -            (9,249)          -   
Disposals     -            (4,550)                (49)     -       -   (4,599) 
Revaluations/Impairments          90,636     -       -       -       -   90,636 
Depreciation Expense     -          (27,264)          (3,930)     -       -   (31,194) 
Amortisation Expense     -       -       -               (252)     -      (252) 
Carrying amount at end of year        478,236        869,396          13,768                496          97,688 1,459,584 

Land at fair 
value

Buildings at 
fair value

Plant & 
Equipment 

at fair value

Intangibles 
at fair value

Work in 
Progress at 

cost

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Year ended 30 June 2017
Carrying amount at start of year        478,236        869,396          13,768                496          97,688 1,459,584 
Additions     -     19             3,733     -            79,560 83,312 
Transfers     -            90,206                233     -          (90,439)          -   
Disposals     -          (12,771)     -       -       -   (12,771) 
Revaluations/Impairments        431,764        (13,891)     -       -       -   417,873 
Depreciation Expense     -          (28,315)          (3,941)     -       -   (32,256) 
Amortisation Expense     -       -       -               (206)     -      (206) 
Carrying amount at end of year        910,000        904,643          13,793                290          86,809 1,915,535 

Aggregate depreciation & amortisation recognised as an expense during the year (i)

2017 2016

$'000 $'000 
 Buildings at fair value           28,315           27,264 
 Plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value             3,941             3,930 
 Intangibles at fair value  206  252 

          32,462           31,446 
Notes:

(i) The useful lives of assets as stated in Note 1 are used in the calculation of depreciation and amortisation
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Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets

Carrying amount 
as at 30 June 

2017

Fair Value Measurement as at 30 June 2017 using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Land at fair value
 Specialised land          910,000 - -          910,000 
Total of land at fair value          910,000 - -          910,000 
Buildings at fair value   
 Specialised buildings          904,643 - -          904,643 
Total of buildings at fair value          904,643 - -          904,643 
Plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value   
 Vehicles   196 - -   196 
 Plant and equipment             13,597 - -             13,597 
Total of plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value             13,793 - -             13,793 

Carrying amount 
as at 30 June 

2016

Fair Value Measurement as at 30 June 2016 using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Land at fair value
 Specialised land          478,236 - -          478,236 
Total of land at fair value          478,236 - -          478,236 
Buildings at fair value   
 Specialised buildings          869,396 - -          869,396 
Total of buildings at fair value          869,396 - -          869,396 
Plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value   
 Vehicles   189 - -   189 
 Plant and equipment             13,579 - -             13,579 
Total of plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value             13,768 - -             13,768 

Specialised land and specialised buildings
The market approach is used for specialised land, although is adjusted for the community service obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised 
nature of the land being valued.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset to the extent that is 
also equally applicable to market participants.  

This approach is in light of the highest and best use consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes into account the use 
of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible, and financially feasible.  As adjustments of CSO are considered as significant 
unobservable inputs, specialised land would be classified as Level 3 assets.

The depreciated replacement cost method is used for specialised buildings. As depreciation adjustments are considered as significant, 
unobservable inputs in nature, specialised buildings are classified as Level 3 fair value measurements.

An independent valuation of the Trust’s specialised land and specialised buildings was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria.  The 
valuation was performed using the market approach adjusted for CSO. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2017.

Vehicles
Vehicles are valued using the depreciated replacement cost method.  The Trust acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before 
the end of their economic life. The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is managed within the Trust.  Depreciation rates 
are set to reflect the utilisation of the vehicles.
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2017 Specialised land
Specialised  

buildings Vehicles
Plant and  

equipment

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Opening balance         478,236         869,396  189           13,579 

Purchases (sales) -           90,225  105             3,861 

Transfers in (out) of - - - -

Level 3

Gains or losses recognised in net result

Depreciation        (28,315)                (98)           (3,843) 

Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of PP&E     -    (12,771)         

Subtotal     -   (41,086)                       (98)           (3,843) 

Gains or losses recognised in other economic flows - 
other comprehensive income

Revaluation         431,764        (13,891)     -       -   

Disposals

Subtotal         431,764        (13,891)     -       -   

Closing balance         910,000         904,644  91           13,597 

2016 Specialised land
Specialised  

buildings Vehicles
Plant and  

equipment

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Opening balance         387,600         891,400  298           10,065 

Purchases (sales)     -               9,810    38             7,346 

Transfers in (out) of - - - -

Level 3

Gains or losses recognised in net result

Depreciation     -          (27,264)              (137)           (3,793) 

Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of PP&E - (4,550) (10) (39)

Subtotal     -          (31,814)              (147)           (3,832) 

Gains or losses recognised in other economic flows - 
other comprehensive income

Revaluation           90,636     -       -       -   

Subtotal           90,636           -                -                - 

Closing balance          478,236          869,396  189            13,579 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is held at fair value. When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a 
going concern, fair value is determined using the depreciated replacement cost method.  

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2017.  

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.

Reconciliation of level 3 fair value
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations

Valuation Technique Significant unobservable inputs

Specialised Land Market Value adjusted for 
community service obligation (CSO)

- land price per square metre

- CSO obligation

Rod Laver Arena / Melbourne 
Park

Depreciated replacement cost - useful lives of structure / shell / building fabric, site engineering services & 
central plant, fit-outs and trunk reticulated building systems.

- replacement cost per m² and per unit of plant.  This reflects the cost of 
replacing the building to its current condition taking into account its age.

Hisense Arena Depreciated replacement cost - useful lives of structure / shell / building fabric, site engineering services & 
central plant, fit-outs and trunk reticulated building systems.

- replacement cost per m² and per unit of plant.  This reflects the cost of 
replacing Hisense Arena to its current condition taking into account its 
age.

Margaret Court Arena Depreciated replacement cost - useful lives of structure / shell / building fabric, site engineering services & 
central plant, fit-outs and trunk reticulated building systems.

- replacement cost per m² and per unit of plant.  This reflects the cost of 
replacing Margaret Court Arena to its current condition taking into account its 
age.

AAMI Park Depreciated replacement cost - useful lives of structure / shell / building fabric, site engineering services & 
central plant, fit-outs and trunk reticulated building systems.

- replacement cost per m² and per unit of plant.  This reflects the cost of 
replacing AAMI Park to its current condition taking into account its age.

Holden Centre Depreciated replacement cost - useful lives of structure / shell / building fabric, site engineering services & 
central plant, fit-outs and trunk reticulated building systems.

- replacement cost per m² and per unit of plant.  This reflects the cost of 
replacing the Westpac Centre to its current condition taking into account 
its age.

Building Refurbishments Depreciated replacement cost - useful life of a fit-out of items with the building with fairly long life spans, 
i.e. Guard-rails, catwalks, seating, tracks/sporting specific items that are 
not electronic

- useful life of items of a soft nature with in building includes carpets, lighting, 
wall fixtures, furniture and fittings that cannot be readily separated from the 
initial building purchase

Vehicles Depreciated replacement cost - cost per unit.

- useful life of vehicles.

Plant and equipment Depreciated replacement cost - cost per unit.

- useful life of plant and equipment.
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9.  PAYABLES

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

Current
Contractual
Trade creditors (i)                393                626 
Other payables             2,266             3,186 
Accrued expenses             7,414          16,666 

         10,073          20,478 

Statutory

Taxes payable - 50

Total current payables          10,073          20,528 

 
(i)     The average credit period is 30 days.  No interest is charged on other payables for the first 30 days from the date of invoice.  Payables are generally paid within the 

payment period thereby avoiding any interest charges that may be incurred on late payments.

(a)  Maturity analysis of payables 
Please refer to Table 16.5 in Note 16 for the aging analysis of payables.

(b)  Nature and extent of risk arising from payables 
Please refer to Note 16 for the nature and extent of risks arising from payables.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

10.  PROVISIONS

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

Current provisions

Annual Leave
Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (i)                288                281 
Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (ii)                296                293 

Long Service Leave
Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (i)                914                829 
Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (ii)             1,030                869 

            2,528             2,272 

Provisions for on-costs
Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (i)                198                182 
Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (ii)                220                190 

               418                372 

  

Total current provisions             2,946             2,644 

Non-current provisions

Long Service Leave (ii)                303                373 

On-costs   48   59 

Total non-current provisions                351                432 

Total provisions             3,298             3,076 

 
(i)  The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts. 
(ii)  The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values.
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(a) Employee benefits and on-costs

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

Current employee benefits

Annual Leave                584                574 
Long Service Leave             1,944             1,698 

Non-current employee benefits
Long Service Leave                303                373 

  
Total employee benefits             2,831             2,645 

Current on-costs                418                372 
Non-current on-costs   48   59 

Total on-costs                466                431 

Total employee benefits and on-costs             3,298             3,076 

(b) Movement in provisions

On-costs On-costs
2017 2016

$'000 $'000

Opening Balance                 431            436 
Additional provisions recognised                 207            170 
Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of future economic benefits              (140)          (172) 
Reductions resulting from re-measurement or settlement without cost                 (23)            (18) 
Unwind of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate    (9)               15 

Closing Balance                466            431 

Current                418            372 
Non-current   48               59 

  
Closing Balance                466            431 

11.  OTHER LIABILITIES

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

Income received in advance             6,791             8,045 
Ticket sales for future events           41,703           20,440 

          48,494           28,485 

Note 10.  Provisions (continued)
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Operating Lease Receivables

Leasing arrangements

Operating lease receivables relate to 13 tenancies (13 in 2015-16) within the Trust’s precinct with lease terms between 1 and 20 years.

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

Receivable no later than one year             5,913             4,786 

Later than one year and not later than five years           19,687           17,592 

Later than five years           57,376           40,056 

          82,976           62,434 

13. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
The following commitments have not been recognised as liabilities in the financial statements.  All amounts shown in the commitments 
note are nominal amounts inclusive of GST.

(a) Capital expenditure commitments
The Trust has commitments for capital works relating to AAMI Park Themed Lighting, Balustrade Upgrades at Hisense Arena and Software 
Upgrades.  

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

Less than one year 1,289 -

Longer than one year and not longer than five years - -

1,289 -

12.  LEASES

Operating lease payables
Leasing arrangements
Operating lease payables relate to plant and office equipment with lease terms between 1 and 2 years.

Non-cancellable operating leases
Total lease expenditure contracted for at balance date but not provided for in the accounts:

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

Payable not longer than one year      9      4 
Longer than one year and not longer than five years    12       -   

   21      4 
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(b) Operating expenditure commitments
The Trust has $0.6m in commitments for operating expenditure relating to agreements for mechanical services and software subscriptions 
at the date of this report (2016: $0.8m). 

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

Payable no later than one year 271 435

Longer than one year and not later than five years 315 410

586 845

(c) Lease commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments are disclosed in Note 12 of the financial statements.

14. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Trust has no contingent liabilities at the date of this report.

15. CONTINGENT ASSETS
There is a contingent asset in relation to Collingwood Football Club’s ground lease at Olympic Park.  In December 2013, the Collingwood Football 
Club was granted permission by the Trust for the construction of the Olympic Park Community Facility on the Trust’s land.  Ownership of 
improvements to the land and any buildings will transfer to the Trust upon expiration of the current lease on 31 May 2033.

16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Significant accounting policies
The Trust’s principal financial instruments comprise:

• cash assets;

• term deposits;

• receivables (excluding statutory receivables); and

• payables (excluding statutory payables).

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement, and the 
basis on which income and expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are 
disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage the Trust’s financial risks in the government policy parameters.

The Trust’s main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.  The Trust manages these risks in accordance with its 
treasury policy.

Primary responsibility for the identification and management of financial risks rests with the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee of the Trust.
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Table 16.1: Categorisation of financial instruments

NOTES

Contractual 
financial 

assets - loans and 
receivables

Contractual 
financial 

liablilities at 
amortised cost Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 

2017

Financial assets (i)    

Cash and cash equivalents 5   47,666            -            47,666 

Cash held on behalf of customers   41,704            -            41,704 

Total Cash   89,370            -            89,370 

Receivables: (i) 6

Total Receivables     2,736            -               2,736 

Investments and other contractual financial assets:

Term deposits 5     4,750            -               4,750 

Total contractual financial assets   96,856            -            96,856 

Contractual financial liabilities

Payables: (i)

Payables 9            -     10,073          10,073 

Ticket sales for future events 11            -     41,703          41,703 

Total contractual financial liabilities            -     51,776          51,776 

(i)  The amount of receivables and payables disclosed exclude statutory amounts (e.g.: amounts owing from Victorian Government 
and GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable)
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(b) Credit risk exposure
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Trust’s debtors defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Trust. The Trust measures credit risk on a fair value basis and monitors risk on a regular basis.

The Trust does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar 
characteristics. 

The Trust has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or credit enhancements 
where appropriate (in the form of a deposit or other guarantee), as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. Credit risk in 
trade receivables is managed by payment terms of seven days and sound debt collection policies and procedures.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating 
agencies.

Provision of impairment for financial assets is calculated based on past experience, and current and expected changes in client credit ratings.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the Financial Report, net of any allowances for losses, represents the
Trust’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

The following table discloses the ageing only of financial assets that are past due but not impaired:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Table 16.2: Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are past due but not impaired

2017
Government agencies 
(triple-A credit rating)

Other (min triple-A credit 
rating) Total

Cash and cash equivalents               42,708  4,958               47,666 

Cash held on behalf of customers  1,758               39,946               41,704 

Receivables (i)         -    2,736  2,736 

Investments and other financial assets  2,750  2,000  4,750 

Total contractual financial assets               47,216               49,640               96,856 

2016

Cash and cash equivalents               36,241  6,071               42,312 

Cash held on behalf of customers  4,605               16,041               20,646 

Receivables (i)         -    3,338  3,338 

Investments and other financial assets  2,750  2,000  4,750 

Total contractual financial assets               43,596               27,450               71,046 

(ii)  The amount of receivables and payables disclosed exclude statutory amounts (e.g.: amounts owing from Victorian Government 
and GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable)

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
As at the reporting date, there is no event to indicate that any of the financial assets are impaired.
There are no financial assets that have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or impaired and they are 
stated at the carrying amounts as indicated. 
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(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Trust is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Trust operates under the Government fair 
payments policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days and in the event of a dispute, makes payments within 30 days from the 
date of resolution. It also continuously manages risk through monitoring future cash flows and maturities planning to ensure adequate 
holding of high quality liquid assets and dealing in highly liquid markets.

The Trust’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.

Cash for unexpected events could be sourced from early liquidation of cash held on deposit if required.

Maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities.

Table 16.3: Ageing analysis of contractual financial assets

Carrying
amount

Not past
due & not
impaired

Past due but not impaired

Less
than 1
month

1-3
months

3
months
- 1 year

1-5
years

30 June 2017 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash and cash 
equivalents

       89,370        89,370     

Term deposits          4,750          4,750     

Receivables (i)          2,736          1,555                81          1,078                22  -   

96,856               95,675                81          1,078                22  -   

30 June 2016 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash and cash 
equivalents        62,958        62,958     
Term deposits          4,750          4,750     

Receivables (i)          3,338          2,632             398             308  -    -   

       71,046        70,340             398             308  -    -   

(i)  Ageing analysis of financial assets excludes statutory financial assets (e.g.: amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST 
input tax credits recoverable).
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Table 16.4: Interest rate exposure of financial assets

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate

Carrying 
amount Interest rate exposure

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non-
interest 
bearing

30 June 2017 % $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Cash and cash equivalents:      

Cash floats held     88  -     -   88 

Cash at bank 1.26% 47,272  -   47,272  -   

Term deposits 1.96% 4,750  4,750             -  -   

Bank deposits (restricted use) 1.40%  306  -   306  -   

Cash at bank (ticket sales for future events - not available for use) 2.46% 41,703  -   41,703  -   

     

Receivables (i)  2,736  -     -   2,736 

96,856  4,750   89,281 2,824 

30 June 2016 % $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash floats held     88  -     -                  
88 

Cash at bank 1.36% 41,621  -   41,621  -   

Term deposits 1.99% 4,750  -   4,750  -   

Bank deposits (restricted use) 1.65%  601  -                 
601 

 -   

Cash at bank (ticket sales for future events - not available for use) 2.79% 20,648  -   20,648  -   

     

Receivables (i)  3,338  -     -   3,338 

 71,046  -   67,620 3,426 

(ii)  Ageing analysis of financial assets excludes statutory financial assets (e.g.: amounts owing from Victorian Government and GST input 
tax credits recoverable).
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Table 16.5: Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial liabilities

Carrying
amount

Nominal
amount

Maturity dates (i)

Less
than 1
month

1-3
months

3
months
- 1 year

1-5
years

30 June 2017 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Payables (ii)        10,073        10,073          9,437             244             392  -   
Other        41,703        41,703          6,376          9,588        25,739  -   

       51,776        51,776        15,812          9,833        26,131  -   

30 June 2016 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Payables (ii)        20,478        20,478        20,478  -    -    -   
Other        20,440        20,440          7,689          4,864          7,887  -   

       40,918        40,918        28,167          4,864          7,887  -   

(i) The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities.

(ii)  The carrying amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts (e.g.: amounts payable to Victorian Government and taxes 
payable).

(d) Interest rate risk

The Trust is exposed to insignificant interest rate risk as it does not have any loans.  Additionally, monies on term deposits are with 
financial institutions with high credit ratings. Sensitivity analyses shown are for illustrative purposes only. The following movements are 
‘reasonably possible’ over the next 12 months: 

• a movement of 100 basis points up and down (100 basis points up and down) in market interest rates (AUD);

The Trust’s exposure to interest rate risk is set out in Table 16.6.
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Table 16.6: Market risk

Interest rate risk

-1%
(100 basis points)

+1%
(100 basis points)

Carrying
amount

Profit Equity Profit Equity

30 June 2017 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Contractual financial assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents        47,666           (477)           (477)             477             477 

Cash held on behalf of customers        41,704           (417)           (417)             417             417 

Investments and other 
contractual financial assets

         4,750             (48)             (48)                48                48 

Total Impact           (942)           (942)             942             942 

30 June 2016 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Contractual financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents        42,312           (423)           (423)             423             423 

Cash held on behalf of customers 20,648           (206)           (206)             204             204 

Investments and other 
contractual financial assets          4,750             (48)             (48)                48                48 

Total Impact           (677)           (677)             677             677 

(e) Fair value

The Trust considers that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial report to be a fair 
approximation of their fair values, because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments and the expectation that they will be paid 
in full.
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17. CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

Total cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 5          94,120                67,708 

Balance as per cash flow statement          94,120                67,708 

(b) Reconciliation of net result for the period to net cash flows from operating activities

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

Net Result for the financial year        (19,997)       244 

Add/(less) non-cash movements:

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets          32,463                31,446 

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets          12,737      (87) 

Movements in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in current receivables             1,490    (268) 

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets          (9,280)             (15,605) 

(Decrease)/increase in current payables          (5,441)    (716) 

(Decrease)/increase in current provisions                302         20 

(Decrease)/increase in other current liabilities          20,009             (29,712) 

(Decrease)/increase in non-current provisions                (81)      (14) 

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities          32,200             (14,692) 

43 MELBOURNE AND OLYMPIC PARKS TRUST



18. RESPONSIBLE PERSONS

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, the following 
disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

Names
The persons who held the positions of Ministers and Accountable Officers for the Trust are as follows:

Premier
The Honourable Daniel Andrews, Premier of Victoria

Minister
The Honourable John Eren, Minister for Sport, Minister for Tourism and Major Events and Minister for Veterans

Trust
Mr Russell Caplan (Chairperson) (1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017)
Ms Jacinda Dixon  (1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017)
Mr William Fowles  (1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017)
Mr Stephen Healy  (1 July 2016 to 27 June 2017)
Ms Diana Nicholson  (1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017)
Mr John Ribot-de-Bresac (1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017)
Mr Kenneth Roche, AO (1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017; part-year absence)
Ms Mikaela Stafrace  (1 July 2016 to 21 July 2016)
Mr Raymond Smith  (1 July 2016 to 19 November 2016)
Mr David Stobart   (1 July 2016 to 8 April 2017)
Ms Catherine Friday  (13 December 2016 to 30 June 2017)
Mr Patrick Flannigan  (13 December 2016 to 30 June 2017)
Ms Jayne Hrdlicka  (13 December 2016 to 30 June 2017)
Mr Gary Clark    (9 April 2017 to 30 June 2017)
Ms Liberty Sanger  (27 June 2017 to 30 June 2017)

Trust Secretary and Chief Executive Officer
Mr Brian Morris

Remuneration
Total remuneration (including incentive payments) received or receivable by the Accountable Officer in connection with the management of 
the Trust during the reporting period was in the range of $490,000 - $499,999 ($470,000 - $479,999 in 2015-16).

Trustees did not receive any remuneration from the Trust during the financial year. (2015-16: $0).  Trustees are entitled to take up to two 
tickets to publically ticketed events held at Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust.
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19.  REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVES

The number of executive officers and employees with management responsibilities, other than the Minister and Accountable Officer, and their 
total remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalents provide a measure of full time 
equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on behalf of the entity, in exchange 
for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories. 

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid or payable on a regular basis, 
as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.

Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when employment has ceased. 

Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or deferred compensation. 

Termination benefits include termination of employment payments, such as severance packages. 

There were few changes to the executive structure of the Trust throughout the year.  Most notable, was the appointment of the Chief Operating Officer in 
May 2017. Some employment contracts of executives were completed and renegotiated during the year.

Remuneration of executive officers 

2017 (a)
$'000

Short-term employee benefits 1,262

Post-employment benefits 102

Other long-term benefits 49

Termination benefits 52

Total remuneration (a) 1,466

Total number of executives 6.5

Total annualised employee equivalents (b) 6.5

Notes:

(a)    No comparatives have been reported because remuneration in the prior year was determined in line with the basis and definition under FRD 21B. 
Remuneration previously excluded non-monetary benefits and comprised any money, consideration or benefit received or receivable, excluding 
reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses, including any amount received or receivable from a related party transaction. Refer to the prior year’s 
financial statements for executive remuneration for the 2015-16 reporting period.

(b)    Annualised employee equivalent is based on the time fraction worked over the reporting period.

20.  RELATED PARTIES

The Trust is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. 

The assessment of Related parties of the Trust included:

•  all key management personnel and their close family members and personal business interests (controlled entities, joint ventures and 
entities they have significant influence over);

• all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.

Significant transactions with government-related entities

The Trust received redevelopment funding of $82.5 million during the year (2016: $47 million) from DHHS & DEDJTR which was onpassed to 
Development Victoria in their capacity as project manager (previously to Major Projects Victoria).

Funding to government entities outside of the redevelopment have been referred to in Note 3e.

Key management personnel of the Trust include the Portfolio Minister, the Honourable John Eren MP, Trustees and the Chief Executive Officer as per 
Note 18.

The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister receives. The Minister’s remuneration and allowances is 
set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary Services’ Financial Report.
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21. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

Audit fees paid or payable to the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office (VAGO) for the audit of the Trust’s financial report. 
2017

$’000 
2016

$’000 

Audit or review of the financial statements - VAGO 59 57
59 57

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Compensation of KMPs  

2017
$'000

Short-term employee benefits(a) 466

Post-employment benefits 20

Other long-term benefits 12

Termination benefits 0

Total 498

Notes:

(a)   Total KMP remuneration is wholly related to the accountable officer, as Trustees are not remunerated (Note 18). 

Transactions and balances with key management personnel and other related parties

Commercial dealings were undertaken during the reporting period with Tennis Australia, Tennis Victoria, Urban Maintenance Systems (UMS) and 
Ernst & Young, all of which have representatives holding positions as Trustees on the Melbourne & Olympic Parks Trust.

Tennis Australia

Ms Jayne Hrdlicka holds a position on the Melbourne & Olympic Parks Trust and also holds a position at Tennis Australia (Director). Tennis Australia 
is the promoter of the Australian Open event and operates a court hire business on the Trust’s premises and also rents office space from the Trust.

During 2016-17, the Trust invoiced Tennis Australia $40,130,243 ($34,184,986 in 2015-16) as at 30 June 2017, Tennis Australia owed the Trust 
$55,016 ($57,738 in 2015-16).

Tennis Victoria

Mr Gary Clark holds a position on the Melbourne & Olympic Parks Trust and also holds the position of President of Tennis Victoria. Tennis Victoria 
rents office space on the Trust’s premises and purchase related services from the Trust.

During 2016-17, the Trust invoiced Tennis Victoria $181,401 ($170,108 in 2015-16) and as at 30 June 2017, Tennis Australia owed the Trust $11,564 
($22,741 in 2015-16).

Urban Maintenance Systems (UMS)

Mr Patrick Flannigan holds a position on the Melbourne & Olympic Parks Trust and also holds the position of Managing Director and Chief Executive 
Officer at UMS. The Trust engaged the services of UMS to provide various maintenance and restoration works required on the Trust’s premises. UMS 
were engaged during the year on an arm’s length basis.

During 2016-17, the Trust paid $534,952 to UMS ($3,451 in 2015-16) for various repairs, maintenance and cleaning of Trust assets. 

Ernst & Young

Ms Catherine Friday holds a position on the Melbourne & Olympic Parks Trust and also holds the position of Partner at Ernst & Young. At various 
stages throughout the year, Ernst & Young acquired services from the Trust in the form of venue hire, event hospitality and tennis court hire.  

During 2016-17, Ernst & Young paid $100,524 to the Trust ($68,605 in 2015-16) for venue hire and hospitality on the Trust premises. 

There are no other receivable amounts or loans outstanding in relation to related parties, as at 30 June 2017 ($0 in 2015-16).
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At the reporting date, superannuation contributions outstanding were $16,570 (2016 $0).

23.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No material or significant events occurred after the reporting date.

22.  EMPLOYEE SUPERANNUATION

Superannuation contributions for the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits and on-costs in the comprehensive 
operating statement of the Trust.

The name and details of the major employee superannuation funds and contributions made by the Trust during the reporting period are  
as follows:

2017
$’000 

2016
$’000 

AustralianSuper                783                845 
Hostplus                102   93 
Navigator Super Solutions   76   73 
Retail Employees Superannuation Pty Ltd   63   57 
VicSuper Pty Ltd   35   37 
Colonial First State First Choice PERSONAL Super   19   27 
Care Super   28   32 
First State Super Fund   24   39 
OnePath MasterFund   22   21 
C+BUS   19   18 
ING Direct Superannuation Fund   17   16 
Colonial First State First Choice Wholesale Personal Super   15      2 
AMP Flexible Lifetime Super   12   10 
BT Super for Life   11   15 
North Personal Superannuation & Pension Plan   11   10 
Telstra Super   10   21 
SUNSUPER Pty Ltd   10      9 
MLC Super Fund      9   10 
Others   94                101 
TOTAL             1,360             1,436 
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Balance Sheet (Extract) 2016 Increase / 
(decrease)

2016 
(restated)

$'000 $'000

ASSETS    
   

FINANCIAL ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents              47,062              20,648              67,708 
Cash held on behalf of customers              20,648            (20,648)         -   
Receivables  5,016         -    5,016 
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS              72,724         -                72,724 

   
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS    
Prepayments         -                15,860              15,860 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets         1,475,066            (15,482)         1,459,584 
Other non-financial assets     378  (378)         -   
TOTAL NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS         1,475,444         -           1,475,444 

   

TOTAL ASSETS         1,548,168         -           1,548,168 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

24.  CORRECTION OF PRIOR PERIOD ERROR

The Trust identified prior period errors by way of incorrect classification of cash & cash equivalents, work in progress and prepayments. These 
have since been adjusted and restated in each of the affected financial statements for the 2016 financial year, as shown in the tables below.
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24.  CORRECTION OF PRIOR PERIOD ERROR (continued )

Cash Flow Statement (Extract)
2016 Increase / 

(decrease)
2016 

(restated)

$'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
   

RECEIPTS    
Receipts from customers              90,449            (11,382)              79,067 
Customer receipts on behalf of suppliers         -              141,342            141,342 
Interest received     887         -       887 
Goods and Services Tax received from the ATO  6,565         -    6,565 
Other Receipts  1,648  (505)  1,143 
TOTAL RECEIPTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES              99,549            129,455            229,004 

   
PAYMENTS    
Payments to suppliers and employees            (59,653)              (3,597)            (63,250) 
Payments to suppliers on behalf of customers         -           (167,284)         (167,284) 
Goods and Services Tax paid to the ATO            (10,162)         -              (10,162) 
Payments to Government (financial transfer)              (3,000)         -                (3,000) 
TOTAL PAYMENTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES            (72,815)         (170,881)         (243,696) 

   

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES              26,734            (41,426)            (14,692) 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES              26,734            (41,426)            (14,692) 
   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Payments for non-financial assets            (84,869)              15,482            (69,387) 
Receipts on sale of non-financial assets       87         -         87 

   
NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES            (84,782)              15,482            (69,300) 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Receipts from Government (capital)              47,000         -                47,000 

   
NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES              47,000         -                47,000 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents            (11,048)            (25,942)            (36,992) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year              58,110              46,590            104,700 

   
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR              47,062              20,648              67,708 
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25.  GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is petty cash, cash floats, deposits in bank 
accounts, bank overdrafts and short-term deposits (up to 90 days).

Comprehensive result
Total comprehensive result is the change in equity for the period 
other than changes arising from transactions with owners. It is the 
aggregate of net result and other non-owner changes in equity.

Commitments
Commitments include those operating, capital and other 
outsourcing commitments arising from non cancellable contractual 
or statutory sources.

Delaware North Australia Sinking Fund
Refers to an account managed jointly by the Trust and the Trust’s 
caterer (Delaware North Australia) and is used for the replacement 
or improvement of catering equipment or infrastructure. 

Employee benefits expense
Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to 
employment including wages and salaries, leave entitlements, 
redundancy payments, defined benefits superannuation plans, and 
defined contribution superannuation plans.

Financial asset
A financial asset is any asset that is:

 (a) Cash and Cash Equivalents;

 (b) an equity instrument of another entity;

 (c) a contractual or statutory right:

  •  to receive cash or another financial asset from 
another entity; or

  •  to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities 
with another entity under conditions that are 
potentially favourable to the entity; or

 (d)  a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own 
equity instruments and is:

  •  a non derivative for which the entity is or may be 
obliged to receive a variable number of the entity’s 
own equity instruments; or

  •  a derivative that will or may be settled other than by 
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another 
financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own 
equity instruments.

Financial instrument
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial 
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument 
of another entity. Financial assets or liabilities that are not 
contractual (such as statutory receivables or payables that arise 
as a result of statutory requirements imposed by governments) 
are not financial instruments.

Financial liability
A financial liability is any liability that is:

 (a) A contractual or statutory obligation:

   (i)  To deliver cash or another financial asset to another 
entity; or

   (ii)  To exchange financial assets or financial liabilities 
with another entity under conditions that are 
potentially unfavourable to the entity; or

 (b)  A contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own 
equity instruments and is:

   (i)  A non-derivative for which the entity is or may be 
obliged to deliver a variable number of the entity’s 
own equity instruments; or

   (ii)  A derivative that will or may be settled other than by 
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another 
financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own 
equity instruments. For this purpose the entity’s own 
equity instruments do not include instruments that 
are themselves contracts for the future receipt or 
delivery of the entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial statements
Depending on the context of the sentence where the term ‘financial 
statements’ is used, it may include only the main financial 
statements (i.e. comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, 
cash flow statements, and statement of changes in equity); or it 
may also be used to replace the old term ‘financial report’ under the 
revised AASB 101 (September 2007), which means it may include 
the main financial statements and the notes.

Grants
Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to 
grants that are not subject to conditions regarding their use. 
Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants which 
are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached 
regarding their use.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets represent identifiable non monetary assets 
without physical substance.

Interest expense
Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds interest 
expenses include interest on bank overdrafts and short term and 
long term borrowings, amortisation of discounts or premiums 
relating to borrowings, interest component of finance leases 
repayments, and the increase in financial liabilities and non 
employee provisions due to the unwinding of discounts to reflect 
the passage of time.

Interest income
Interest income includes interest received on bank term deposits, 
interest from investments and other interest received.
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Net acquisition of non-financial assets (from transactions)
Purchases (and other acquisitions) of non financial assets less 
sales (or disposals) of non financial assets less depreciation plus 
changes in inventories and other movements in non financial 
assets. It includes only those increases or decreases in non 
financial assets resulting from transactions and therefore excludes 
write offs, impairment write downs and revaluations.

Net result
Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations 
for the period. It is the net result of items of income, gains and 
expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, excluding 
those that are classified as other non owner changes in equity.

Net result from transactions (net operating balance)
Net result from transactions or net operating balance is a key fiscal 
aggregate and is income from transactions minus expenses from 
transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability 
of operations. It excludes gains and losses resulting from changes 
in price levels and other changes in the volume of assets. It is the 
component of the change in net worth that is due to transactions.

Non-financial assets
Non financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’.

Other economic flows included in net result
Other economic flows included in net result are changes in the 
volume or value of an asset or liability that do not result from 
transactions. It includes:

 •  gains and losses from disposals, revaluations and 
impairments of non-financial physical and intangible 
assets; and

 •  gains and losses arising from revaluation of long service 
liability.

Other economic flows – other comprehensive income
Other economic flows – other comprehensive income comprises 
items (including reclassification adjustments) that are not 
recognised in net result as required or permitted by other 
Australian Accounting Standards.

The components of other economic flows other comprehensive 
income include:

 • changes in physical asset revaluation surplus.

Payables
Includes short and long term trade debt and accounts payable, 
grants, taxes and interest payable.

Receivables
Includes amounts owing from government through appropriation 
receivable, short and long term trade credit and accounts receivable, 
accrued investment income, grants, taxes and interest receivable.

Sales of goods and services
Refers to revenue from direct provision of goods and services and 
includes fees and charges for services rendered and sales of goods 
and services.

Tennis Australia Special Purpose Account
Refers to a separate account established by MOPT for tennis-
related capital improvements to Melbourne Park.

Transactions
Transactions are those economic flows that interact between two 
entities by mutual agreement.

Style conventions
Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded.  
Discrepancies in tables between totals and sums of components 
reflect rounding.  Percentage variations in all tables are based on 
the underlying unrounded amounts.

The notion used in the tables is as follows:

-   zero, or rounded to zero 
(xxx)  negative numbers 
20xx  year 
20xx-xx  year period
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DECLARATION IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

In accordance with a resolution of the members of the Melbourne 
and Olympic Parks Trust in our opinion:

The financial statements for the Trust have been prepared in 
accordance with Direction 5.2 of the Standing Directions of the 
Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, 
applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting 
Standards including Interpretations, and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements. 

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the 
comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, statement of 
changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes, 
presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 30 
June 2017 and financial position of the Trust at 30 June 2017. 

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which 
would render any particulars included in the financial statements 
to be misleading or inaccurate. 

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 23 
August 2017. 

Russell Caplan 
Member of Responsible Body 
Chairman 
Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust

Brian Morris 
Member of Responsible Body  
Chief Executive Officer 
Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust

Travis Mardling 
Chief Financial Officer 
Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Trustees of Melbourne & Olympic Parks Trust 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of Melbourne & Olympic Parks Trust (the Trust) which 
comprises the: 

 comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
 balance sheet as at 30 June 2017 
 statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
 cash flow statement for the year then ended 
 notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies 
 declaration in the financial statements. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Trust as at 30 June 2017 and their financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of the 
Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the Act are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Trustees’ 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Trustees of the Trust are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial 
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Trustees determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Trust’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless it is inappropriate to do so. 

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control 

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Trust 

 conclude on the appropriateness of the Trust's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Trust's ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Trustees regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 

 
MELBOURNE 
25 August 2017 

Anna Higgs 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
Competitive Neutrality Policy Compliance
The Trust regularly reviews whether its activities are subject to 
the requirements of the National Competition Policy, including 
compliance with the requirements of the policy statement 
Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria, and takes necessary action 
to implement competitive neutrality measures where required.

Statement of Compliance with the Building Act 1993
The Trust complies with the relevant guidelines, pursuant to 
Section 220 of the Building Act 1993.

Implementation of the Victorian Industry 
Participation Policy  
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 requires 
departments and public sector bodies to report on the 
implementation of the Victorian Industry Participation Policy 
(VIPP). Departments and public sector bodies are required to apply 
VIPP in all procurement activities valued at $3 million or more in 
metropolitan Melbourne and for statewide projects, or $1 million or 
more for procurement activities in regional Victoria.

There was one procurement undertaken and completed by the 
Trust in 2016/17 to which the VIPP applied. 

A total of 100 per cent of the contracts were estimated to be of 
local content and a VIPP plan was not required, as the procurement 
activity was local in nature.  

Government Advertising Expenditure
There were no advertising campaigns that triggered the disclosure 
threshold of $100,000 in the 16/17 financial year.  

Financial and Other Information Retained by the 
Accountable Officer
Relevant information detailed in Financial Reporting Direction 
(FRD) 22D ‘Standard Disclosures in the Report of Operations’ under 
the Financial Management Act 1994 Section 3 is retained by the 
Trust’s Accountable Officer and is available on request, subject to 
the Freedom of Information Act 1982.

Protected Disclosure Act 2012
Melbourne & Olympic Parks is committed to the aims and objectives of 
the Protected Disclosure Act. It recognises the value of transparency 
and accountability in its administrative and management practices, 
and supports the making of disclosures that reveal improper conduct. It 
does not tolerate improper conduct by the organisation, its employees, 
officers or members; nor the taking of detrimental action in reprisal 
against those who come forward to disclose such conduct. According 
to the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC), 
M&OP is not permitted to receive disclosures made under the Act. 
Therefore, if you wish to make a disclosure about M&OP, its officers, 

members or employees, you will need to make that disclosure directly 
to the IBAC. If M&OP believes a disclosure may be a protected disclosure 
made in accordance with the Act, it will ask you to make that disclosure 
to the IBAC. The IBAC will deal with the disclosure.   Procedures in relation 
to the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 are available on the M&OP website.

Disability Act (2006)
M&OP is committed to providing equitable, dignified access to 
goods and services to premises used by the public. A key focus 
of the extensive redevelopment of Melbourne Park has been the 
inclusion of universal design principles. This proactive work ensures 
the design of new buildings or upgraded infrastructure are centred 
around improved access for all Victorians.

Throughout the course of this financial year M&OP continued to 
implement its Diversity and Inclusion Plan setting short, medium 
and long term goals to improve the guest experience for people with 
a disability. A copy of the plan is available at www.mopt.com.au

Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S)
M&OP is committed to provide and maintain an environment that 
is safe for all who visit and work within the precinct or who may be 
affected by our business operations. M&OP aspires to eliminate 
risks to health and safety, and where elimination is not reasonably 
achievable, to reduce risks to health and safety so far as is 
reasonably practicable.

This will be achieved by:

•  Promoting a strong safety culture and integrating safety into all 
aspects of M&OP’s activities.  

•  Setting measurable objectives and targets aimed at controlling 
risk activities increasing awareness of health and safety and 
preventing injuries and illnesses.

•  Providing sufficient resources to plan and maintain a safe, 
healthy and supportive work environment. 

•  Maintaining physical infrastructure and public spaces in a 
condition that ensures they are safe to use.

To support this commitment, M&OP maintains certification to 
Australian / New Zealand Standard 4801 – Occupational Health 
and Safety Management Systems (AS4801). This achievement is 
underpinned by M&OP’s leadership driven safety culture, which 
encourages collaboration, consultation and ownership to occur 
at all organisational levels. M&OP’s commitment to continuous 
improvement is reflected in our Health and Safety Policy, which 
highlights the accountabilities shared across our workforce. 

Key achievements for the year included:

•  M&OP’s Occupational Health and Safety System was audited and 
recertified to the requirements of AS4801 – Occupational Health 
and Safety Management Systems for a further three year period.

•  117 workplace safety inspections were undertaken covering all 
designated workgroup areas across the precinct.

•  115 designated work group toolbox meetings and 12 Health and 
Safety Committee meetings were held.
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ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

Employee Assistance Program
M&OP Employee Assistance Program (EAP) continued to provide employees and their immediate family members with access to free, 
confidential counselling to help address work and personal issues.

Disclosure of Workforce Data
Melbourne and Olympic Park Trust is committed to two codes issued by the Public Sector Standards Commissioner (PSSC), being the 
Director Codes of Conduct and Guidance Notes and the Code of Conduct of Victorian Public Sector employees.

Enterprise Based Agreements are in place and the Trust continues its ongoing commitment to the PSSC standards on equal opportunity, 
fair and reasonable treatment, merit in employment and reasonable avenues of redress.

Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust employed 100 ongoing full time and part time staff as at 30 June 2017 (2016: 92). The number of 
ongoing Full Time Equivalent (FTE) staff at 30 June 2017 was 96 (2016: 89). The number of fixed term and casual employees at 30 June 
2017 was 554 (2016: 613) and a large number of contractors provided by our key partners also contribute to M&OP’s workforce (Adecco, 
Capricorn Stages and Rigging, Delaware North Companies, MSS Security, O’Brien Catering Group, St John Ambulance and Ticketek).

The breakdown of staff is as follows:

 June 2017

Ongoing
Employees

Total Full time Part time Fixed Term Casual
(Headcount) (Headcount) (Headcount) FTE (Headcount) (Headcount)

Male 350 48 9 56 11 282

Female 304 34 9 40 6 255

Executive 6 0 0 0 6 0

Administration & Support Staff 77 61 8 66 8 0

Event & Venue Staff 571 21 10 30 3 537

Total Employees 654 82 18 96 17 537

 June 2016

Ongoing
Employees

Total Full time Part time Fixed Term Casual
(Headcount) (Headcount) (Headcount) FTE (Headcount) (Headcount)

Male 373 44 9 53 11 309

Female 332 32 7 36 6 287

Executive 7 0 0 0 7 0

Administration & Support Staff 75 58 7 63 10 0

Event & Venue Staff 623 18 9 26 0 596

Total Employees 705 76 16 89 17 596

Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) (CONTINUED)

•  Hazard identification and reporting increased by 131% from the 
previous period. 

•  Injuries to M&OP employees decreased by 29% from 2015/16, 
and injuries to Event Guests decreased by 16%.

• 15 internal health and safety audits were conducted.

A full copy of the Trust’s Health and Safety policy is available on 
M&OP’s website – www.mopt.com.au
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Consultants 

Details of consultancies over $10,000 

Consultant Purpose of consultancy Start date End date Total expenditure 
2016/17  
(excluding GST)

Future 
commitments

SportEng Field of Play design services for Gosch’s 
Paddock Masterplan 

July 2016 September 
2017

$44,300 $0

STRI Pty Ltd AAMI Park Turf Review July 2016 November 
2016 

$15,390 $0

Details of consultancies less than $10,000 
 Number: 4
 Total Amount: $13,275

Disclosure of ICT Expenditure
For the 2016-17 reporting period, the Trust had a total ICT expenditure of $5,755,000 with the details shown below. 

($ thousand)

Business As Usual (BAU) ICT 
expenditure

Non-Business As Usual (non 
BAU) ICT expenditure

Operational expenditure Capital expenditure

(Total) (Total = Operational expenditure 
and Capital Expenditure)

1,573 4,182 22 4,160

ICT expenditure refers to the Trust’s costs in providing business enabling ICT services. It comprises Business As Usual (BAU) ICT 
expenditure and Non Business As Usual (Non BAU) ICT expenditure. Non BAU ICT expenditure relates to extending or enhancing the Trust’s 
current ICT capabilities. BAU ICT expenditure is all remaining ICT expenditure which primarily relates to ongoing activities to operate and 
maintain the current ICT capability.

ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

Freedom of Information 
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 allows the public a right of access to documents held by Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust. For the 
12 months ending June 2017, the Trust received one Freedom of Information request. 

The Chief Financial Officer is the contact officer in relation to all Freedom of Information requests. Access to documents may be obtained 
through written request to the Chief Financial Officer, addressed as follows:

Freedom of Information 
Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust 
GPO Box 4611, Melbourne VIC 3001 
Requests can also be lodged via email to foi@mopt.vic.gov.au.

All requests must be accompanied by the application fee ($27.90 from 1 July 2016 but may be waived in certain circumstances) and must 
provide such information concerning the document as is reasonably necessary to enable M&OP to identify the document. Charges may also 
apply once documents have been processed and a decision on access is made; for example photocopying search and retrieval charges.
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ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

Gosch’s Paddock
Gosch’s Paddock remained open at all times throughout the 2016/17 year. 

Risk Attestation Statement 

I, Chair of the Trust certify that Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust has complied with the Ministerial Standing Direction 3.7.1 – Risk Management 
Framework and Processes. The Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust Finance, Audit and Risk Committee verifies this.

Russell Caplan 
Chairman 
Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust
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DISCLOSURE INDEX

Ministerial Directions and Financial Reporting 
Directions

Charter and Purpose page
FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the 

relevant Minister 
5

FRD 22H Purpose, functions, powers and 
duties 

5

FRD 22H Nature and range of services 
provided 

5

FRD22H Key initiatives and projects 7

Management and structure
FRD 22H Organisational Structure 6

Financial and other information
FRD 10 Disclosure index 59
FRD 15D Executive officer disclosures 45
FRD 22H Significant changes in financial 

position during the year 
7

FRD 22H Employment and conduct principles 56
FRD 22H Application and operation of 

Freedom of Information Act 1982 
57

FRD 22H Application and operation of the 
Protected Disclosure Act 2012 

55

FRD 22H Compliance with building and 
maintenance provision of Building 
Act 1993 

55

FRD 22H Details of consultancies over $10,000 57
FRD 22H Details of consultancies under 

$10,000 
57

FRD 22H Major changes or factors affecting 
performance 

7

FRD 22H Occupational Health and Safety 
Policy

56

FRD 22H Disclosure of government 
advertising expenditure

55

FRD 22H Disclosure of ICT expenditure 57
FRD 22H Statement of availability of other 

information 
55

FRD 22H Statement on National Competition 
Policy 

55

FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for 
the year 

7

FRD 22H Summary of major activities 7
FRD 22H Subsequent events 47
FRD 25C Victorian Industry Participation 

Policy disclosures 
55

FRD 29B Workforce Data Disclosure 56

SD 5.2 Specific requirements under 
Standing Direction 5.2

7

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations 4

SD 3.7.1 Attestation for compliance with 
Ministerial Standing Direction

58

Financial Statements page
SD 5.2.2 Declaration in Financial Statements 52
SD 5.2.1 (a) Compliance with Australian 

accounting standards and other 
authoritative pronouncements

17

SD 5.2.1 (a) Compliance with Ministerial 
Directions 

44

SD 5.2.1 (b) Compliance with Model Financial 
Report 

12-52

Other disclosures as required by FRD's in notes to the financial 
statements
FRD 11A Disclosure of Ex-gratia expenses N/A
FRD 21B Responsible person and executive 

officer disclosures 
44-46

FRD 103F Non-Financial Physical Assets N/A
FRD 110A Cash flow statements 16
FRD 112D Defined Benefit Superannuation 

Obligations 
47

Legislation
Audit Act 1994
Building Act 1993
Crown Land (Reserves) Act 1978
Disability Act 2006
Financial Management Act 1994 (including Standing Directions)
Freedom of Information Act 1982
Melbourne and Olympic Parks Act 1985 (amended)
Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004
Protected Disclosure Act 2012
Public Administration Act 2004
Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003
Victorian Managed Insurance Authority Act 1996

The Annual Report of Melbourne and Olympic Parks Trust is prepared in accordance with all Victorian Legislation. This index has been prepared 
to facilitate identification of compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.
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